

Theoretical insights to address key ethical, practical and political challenges in participatory research in health

WORKING PAPER - VERSION 2



Robin Vincent, Janet Harris, Rene Loewenson, Helene-Mari Van der Westhuizen, Gill Black, Geoff Wong, Sassy Molyneux

MARCH 2025



Participation is recognised as having a key role in health, for increasing the relevance and effectiveness of health interventions, for the health promoting benefits of community empowerment and as an ethical imperative. Participatory approaches to health research are also increasingly valued for bringing the insights of lived experience, and more relevant research and action.

In this paper, we explore key remaining issues in participatory action research highlighted by scholars, practitioners and published literature, and highlight some useful conceptual resources which help to better understand them. We distinguish participatory action research as a paradigm involving those most affected throughout the research process, contrasting it with the more limited use of participatory tools and methods. We outline several aspects of participatory action research in health that would benefit from further theoretical and practical development, including: shifting power in the research process; the compatibility of participatory research with biomedical research; linking local inquiry and action to broader changes in policy and practice; and working with experiential knowledge in a rigorous research process. We highlight useful theory from a range of disciplines (including beyond the participatory research literature) that helps to understand some of the key processes and dynamics implicated in the issues highlighted and how this affects the outcomes achieved. We outline and share these conceptual/theoretical resources, identified as part of preparation for conducting a realist review on participatory action research in health, to contribute to ongoing reflection and development in the field.

Table of contents

introduction	4
Realist analysis of participatory research processes	4
Consultation and scoping for a realist review of participatory action research in health	5
Power and control: benefits and challenges of power sharing in the research process	6
How much participation? The motivations and the dangers of co-optation	6
Power and participation	7
Practices of participation	7
Capacity for participation	8
Group Dynamics	8
Co-governance of research	8
Knowledge generation, scientific process and the role of experiential knowledge	10
The action learning cycle and the value of experience	10
Challenging a narrow view of scientific process and what counts as valid knowledge	11
The politics of 'science'	11
The politics of knowing and epistemic justice	12
Evaluative knowledge and human flourishing	12
Participation and the complexity of lived experience	13
Linking local understandings and action to broader action and social and policy change	14
Building on local knowledge and action	14
Vertical and horizontal contexts in health	15
Understanding meanings, culture and social change	16
Influencing policy and practice	16
Explaining Participatory Action Research	17
Conclusion	19
Acknowledgments	19
References	20

Introduction

Participation is recognised as having a key role in health, for increasing the relevance of health interventions, for the health promoting benefits of community empowerment, and as an ethical imperative, although the history of its application in practice has been uneven (Packard, 2000). Participation in health research is also increasingly seen as valuable, for generating insights from lived experience, and to ensure research is ethical, and relevant for addressing real-world challenges (Wallerstein et al., 2018; ICPHR, 2018). The value of such approaches has been strengthened by contributions from complexity and systems thinking and developments in social theory, which suggest that complex social issues such as health and wellbeing demand methods that are able to draw on and systematise the experiences and analyses of people most affected (Byrne and Callaghan, 2014; Burns and Worsley, 2015). The prevailing health paradigm, which emphasises curative interventions over addressing the social determinants of health (Packard, 2000), may present particular challenges and opportunities for participatory enquiry, and its ability to involve those most affected by health.

Participatory Research (PR) or Participatory Action research (PAR) can be broadly understood as research 'where people affected by the issue being studied are involved throughout the research process' (ICPHR 2018; our emphasis). Cycles of action and reflection coupled with collective analysis are central to the research method – more commonly given specific emphasis in Participatory Action Research PAR (Reason and Bradbury, 2008; Burns et al., 2022). PAR/PR has grown into a mature field that proponents argue is able to rigorously address the challenges of researching complex social phenomena. We distinguish PAR and PR that emphasises action as integral (referred to as PAR from now on in this paper) from a range of applications of participatory tools and methods confined to particular stages in the research process (see below). Many early methodological criticisms of PAR are being constructively engaged with, including questions around objectivity, risks of co-optation of participants, attention to gender and other differences, and an underpinning by western assumptions (Burns et al., 2022).

Maturing theory and practice in PAR have highlighted several key issues where further analysis may support a better understanding of the social dynamics, paradigms, and methods involved, and the power relations at stake. In this paper, we outline some of these key areas of PAR and consider some of their characteristics and implications. These key areas are:

- 1. The benefits and challenges of shifting power at a range of different levels in the research process and the potential complementarity of PAR and predominant models of scientific research, including the risk of cooptation.
- 2. Working with 'experiential knowledge' and participatory analysis in research and reconciling diverse ways of knowing in a rigorous inquiry process.
- 3. The possibility and challenge of linking local inquiry and action to broader changes in social life, policy and practice, particularly by affected groups.

These issues are inevitably interwoven and play out at several levels. The matrix in table 1 summarises key issues of power and control, co-optation, and knowledge generation across micro, meso and macro levels and some of the overlaps between them. We unpack a range of these issues in the paper.

Realist analysis of participatory research processes

Realist analysis is increasingly recognised as valuable for unpacking complex social challenges, by highlighting some of the causal processes that underpin them and how these interact to produce the pattern of outcomes observed (Elder-Vass, 2010; Pawson, 2013; Vincent, 2021). As a socially negotiated process, PAR necessarily involves social and psychological dynamics at a range of scales – as reflected in the issues outlined above. Such dynamics include; psychological processes of cognition, meaning making and identity; group dialogue and interactions; organisational partnership and governance processes; and the influence of wider social, political and economic arrangements. All of these mutually affect one another, and issues of power are played out at every level. Realist analysis recognises that each of these levels may have its own distinctive identifiable causal dynamics, but that these interact with those at other levels to produce overall social outcomes (Sayer, 1999).

Table1: Key issues and dimensions of participatory research

	Power/control	Co-optation	Knowledge generation
Macro National, regional, international	Contribution to understanding and promoting human wellbeing and flourishing and addressing marginalisation processes impacting on wellbeing.	Research legitimising or challenging status quo (commercial curative technologies) OR in service of wider health, well-being and flourishing.	Research supporting social justice movements and action, understandings of human flourishing and balanced relations with the world, 'conviviality' and 'regenerative culture'. Building a body of knowledge and practice/tradition.
Meso Institution, programme	Co-governance and deliberation around research. Role of brokers and intermediaries across partners and stakeholders. Presence or not of 'equity context' in which research operates.	Combining PR with dominant research methods – benefits costs. 'Emancipatory' research of social movements versus instrumental participation and PPI. Influence of horizontal versus vertical health approaches and paradigm.	Participatory research methods across the research cycle – consistent with knowledge democracy. Principle of 'no delegation'. Impact of local knowledge on institutions and social practice. Use of interdisciplinary methods.
Micro Project – stakeholder groups	Facilitation and group process – power in interactions and spaces of participation. Building 'power within' and collective consciousness and confidence for change.	Working with diversity in meaning-making and action. Social determinants of health as focus enabling change.	How research processes work with experiential knowledge, action and reflection on action and processes of collective validation and abstraction from diverse knowledges.

In this paper, using such a realist lens, we highlight some conceptual resources that may help to better understand some of the social and psychological processes at different levels, important contextual influences, and the linkages and interactions between them.

Consultation and scoping for a realist review of participatory action research in health

We are conducting a Wellcome-funded realist review of PAR in health, called REAL2. The scoping phase for the main review involved engaging with contemporary scholars and practitioners using PAR methods across a range of fields and contexts, in a variety of one-to-one consultations and facilitated discussions, exploring developments in the PAR literature, and an extended 'social theory gleaning' process to help develop initial causal accounts of the relational dynamics identified as key to the PAR process. Conceptual resources, case studies and literature highlighted by those consulted were drawn on to iteratively refine our initial programme theory outlining ideas about how PAR works, for whom and in what circumstances. We incorporated the authors own wide experiences in a range of fields in the global north and south, including community development, participatory communication in international development, health systems and public health, engagement with health research, labour and political movements, participatory evaluation and PAR.

In this paper we share the conceptual resources and the set of working hypotheses gathered in our initial programme theory (presented towards the end of the paper) to contribute to ongoing reflection and both conceptual and methodological development in the field of PAR. We recognise that this paper represents an inevitably partial drawing together of suggestive lines of inquiry that will need further refinement in our realist review process. However, engagement with scholar/practitioners, advisors and funders suggest that the theoretical resources and initial programme theory are a valuable resource in their own right.

Power and control: benefits and challenges of power sharing in the research process

Since the initial development of participatory approaches as part of Latin American social justice movements in the 1970s (Freire, 1977; Fals Borda, 1991), and separately, as part of community organizing in the Global North (Adelman, 1993), methods and tools of participation have been used across diverse settings, with an associated growth of terminology. Several typologies have attempted critically to characterise the degree of participation in particular cases, an early example being Arnstein's 'ladder of participation' which contrasts tokenistic informing and consultation at one end of the spectrum, to control by participants at the other (Arnstein, 1969).

Participation of people most affected by the issues being addressed throughout the research process – the citizen partnership and control pole of Arnstein's 'ladder' - is considered a defining feature of PAR as a research paradigm (Reason and Bradbury, 2008; ICPHR, 2010; Loewenson, 2014; Wallerstein et al., 2018). Key elements of this overall PAR paradigm include the validation of experience, critical reflection on the drivers of such experience, collective analysis and learning from actions. Together these elements can lead to changes in consciousness and increases in confidence and capacity (ibid). A range of research approaches, at different times and in different places, have sought to emphasize this involvement of people affected throughout the research process. These processes include: Popular Education, Participatory Action Research (PAR), Systemic Action Research (SAR), Participatory Research (PR), Community Based Participatory Research (CBPR), Community Engaged Research (CEnR) and Indigenous research. In addition, participatory techniques have often been used in more limited ways, added on to existing research paradigms where participation may be only partial, or used at particular stages of the research process, variously labelled as co-production, patient and public involvement, community engagement, and strands of co-design and human centred design.

How much participation? The motivations and the dangers of co-optation

The growth of interest in participatory approaches more generally may be understood as part of a struggle between attempts to widen public participation in politics, public life and knowledge generation. This has been driven by social justice movements and the social medicine movement in particular in Latin America, echoed in the New Social Movements from the late 1960s onwards, and countered by attempts to limit and manage that involvement on the part of governments and elite interests (Crossley, 2006; Beresford, 2019a, 2021). In the UK, these developments have been linked to a perceived legitimacy crises in government and public agencies following various health and service crises in the 1980s, and the increasing privatization of services and research (Rose and Rose, 2012).

In this context, public involvement of various sorts gave the appearance of responding to public concerns, while limiting the actual public influence. Mental health and service user advocate Peter Beresford has similarly highlighted the growth of consumer-based models of participation and feedback across a range of public services, including the growth of public patient involvement as a way of individualising public concern and input (2019a). He argues that this consumer model rooted in neo-liberal ideology is inconsistent with the original impulse and rationale of participatory approaches, which is to support people to be involved in collectively defining, researching, and responding to social issues themselves. In the disability field, he argues for disability-led participatory research as an independent process, complementary to mainstream research, and taking the lived experience of disabled people seriously, something we return to below.

Drawing on participatory tools and methods at particular stages of research initiatives following other paradigms, however, may limit the value and impact of such participation. Further than this, at the extreme, it may lead to co-optation of people into dominant research agendas under the guise of seeking their contribution – something which has been a perennial concern since the birth of participatory methods in Latin American social justice movements (Fals Borda and Rahman, 1991).

Concerns around the co-optation of participatory methods have played out in the field of international development and health, where participatory methods were increasingly advocated and adopted from the late 1970s onwards by non-governmental organisations, UN agencies and the World Bank, and the boundaries between research, evaluation, service design and action have been blurred. Such concerns were reflected in debates at the turn of the millennium around whether participation in development processes represented a 'new tyranny' (Cooke and Kothari, 2000; Hickey and Monighan, 2004). The adoption of the language of participation and application of a variety of off-the-shelf techniques in a range of fields and sectors may mask a diversity of different practices, meanings and implications of participation in both theory and practice. This makes application and evaluation of participatory methods challenging and is one of the rationales for the current review.

Diverse uses of participatory approaches have been accompanied by a proliferation of terms to describe them and an eclectic borrowing of language and methods across fields. This lack of conceptual clarity and inconsistency of practical application limits understanding of the relational and power dynamics involved in PR and the core components and contributions of PAR as a paradigm. Participation is commonly advocated as a broadly ethical good, and sometimes invoked more for the instrumental and political benefits of the apparently better knowledge of an issue gained from talking to people who have lived experience of it. In the case of international health research, ethical guidelines now mandate processes of community engagement throughout the research process (CIOMS, 2016). However, there is a need to move beyond these broadly declared rationales to understanding some of the dynamics of participation in particular instances, and how key mechanisms of participation may be affected by the contexts in which they take place and lead to a range of outcomes, both intended and unintended. Here, a realist logic of analysis that looks systematically at outcomes and related contexts, and relates these to the actual processes undertaken, promises to be fruitful for better understanding of participation.

Power and participation

PAR identifies knowledge as one source of dominant power. Rather than 'power over' that privileges the knowledge of one group over another, PAR generates a shared 'power with' through collective analysis by those affected of the causes of their ill health, and a 'power with' to build confidence to produce change in these causes (Loewenson et al., 2014; Rifkin, 2009). One attempt to address the uneven application of participatory methods and better analyse the spectrum of participation and the different forms of power they reflect, has been to draw on the notion of 'spaces of participation' (Gaventa and Cornwall, 2006; Cornwall 2008). This seeks to draw attention to and analyse the terms of engagement and specific practices involved in any instance of participation. The distinction between 'invited' spaces and 'claimed' or 'created' spaces of participation can be useful to understand the difference between people being asked to contribute to a process largely managed and designed by 'experts', and one where the spaces of participation and related processes are designed and led by those involved in and affected by the issue at hand. The distinction also echoes that between PAR as a paradigm and as a set of more limited tools or techniques added on to an unchanged overall research paradigm. In a similar fashion, the notion of 'affordances' is useful for drawing attention to how particular settings and sets of relations, may help or hinder the potential to realise participatory processes; a framing that has been usefully applied to understand the impact of digital technologies on participatory processes (Roberts, 2022).

Practices of participation

The focus on actual practices of participation and the terms on which they are undertaken is a useful way to complement some of the more general frameworks for understanding power (Foucault, 1990; Lukes, 2005; Haugaard, 2012; Pettit, 2022) by analysing particular instances of participation and their implications. Some strands of critical realist theory offer further conceptual resources for understanding the distinctive character of power in a range of social processes including, informal social interactions, the influence of social norms and roles, organisational processes, and the development of culture, knowledge, cognition and shared meaning (Archer, 1995, 2000; Elder-Vass, 2010; 2012; Sayer, 2012; Lakoff and Johnson, 1999). Each of these processes

may have distinct causal dynamics, stemming from the particular interactions involved (Sayer, 1999). In this way, analysis can move beyond more abstract notions of power to the concrete type of power involved in each aspect of social action, co-ordination and knowledge generation (Sayer, 2012). We return to the role of power in knowledge generation below. The importance of inter-subjective dynamics and practices is also highlighted in work on the phenomenology of power (Crossley, 1994). In this way there are a range of analytical tools that promise a more tangible analysis of power dynamics in participatory processes.

Capacity for participation

It is also important to recognise the risks, time commitments and opportunity costs involved in asking people to participate in research, particularly when those people are already experiencing challenges of poverty and marginalisation. This suggests a need to link PAR to existing forms of collective organisation, and to adequate support, including emotional support and conflict resolution, as well as skills and capacity development for co-researchers. It also flags the importance of sustainable long-term engagement with people most affected by issues being researched to avoid the harm of research funding being short term or intermittent and damaging the relationships built and livelihoods developed (Vincent et al., 2021). Previous realist reviews of the partnership dynamics fostered by community based participatory research have highlighted the importance of building equitable partnerships over time for supporting the capacity and sustainability of local organisations, and their ability to set their own research agendas (Jagosh et al., 2012). The role of funders is also important, and the relationship of external inputs to the in-kind resources and commitments of local people and organisations working to find solutions in local contexts (Loewenson, 2010). The undue influence that accompanies provision of funding is also a challenge, something that has been explored in international development settings where social movements seek to ensure downwards accountability to the groups they represent and insulate local action from implicit donor agendas (Batliwala, 2002).

Group dynamics

In participatory research, the dynamics of small group processes and how a safe space with rapport and equity between people is created is important. A recent review suggests that dealing with power differences within groups and the role of the facilitator remain under-explored (Snijder and Apgar, 2021). One response to this has been to work in parallel with different groups to articulate distinctive experiences using creative methods, while building a means to share them with others to build understanding across groups over time (Vincent and Miskelly, 2012; Burns et al., 2022). The influence of prevailing social and cultural dynamics on the relational dynamics of groups, and conversely, the scope for intentionally designing and facilitating group processes in a way that may prefigure more equitable relationships is also another area of importance (Watkins and Shulman, 2010). A diversity of practices under the umbrella of 'psychologies of liberation' seeks to facilitate equitable dialogue processes, and use arts-based tools to share and collectively analyse experience, and in particular to enable marginalised experiences to be acknowledged, witnessed and responded. Such practices seek to both build the confidence and hope of groups of people who have been subject to ongoing marginalisation or more specific periods of traumatic social conflict, and collaboratively work towards restorative action that promotes social justice (ibid). The dynamics of group processes and how to embrace diverse perspectives while building towards joint actions is an area that demands further exploration, drawing on a body conceptual resources that have long been undercurrents to the currently dominant cognitive-behavioural psychology.

Co-governance of research

Another recent development, particularly in the field of Community Based Participatory Research, has been to explore mechanisms for co-governance of research (Oetzel et al., 2015; Salsberg, 2017, Walters et al., 2018). This work builds on earlier work on research partnerships (Jagosh et al., 2012) to consider how practices for priority setting, methods selection, and deliberation in research can involve people most affected and be consistent with a participatory paradigm. A recent review underlines the benefits of co-governance and co-design of research and the importance of equitable partnership processes in research to promote greater health equity, while calling for more work to better understand the details of how these work in practice (Ortiz et al., 2019). In the global health field, parallel debates have sought to identify priority setting mechanisms that would allow more participation in setting research agendas (Pratt, 2019).

Section summary

The issues and conceptual resources outlined above may help analysis in a number of areas where scholars and practitioners have indicated that power relations in participatory process would benefit from greater understanding. These areas are listed below, beginning with more practical/instrumental aspects of participatory process and ending with more socio-political aspects:

- The role and power of the facilitator(s) is vital in a participatory research process, influencing how open and collaborative group dynamics are nurtured and sustained. Some scholars and practitioners have described this as a 'black box'.
- The role of a range of intermediaries, including local organisations, and 'brokers' between different interest groups in a participatory process and the actions that stem from it, which may not be part of 'formal' research processes.
- The importance of power sharing in research has been approached by some through the idea of cogovernance, with procedures and deliberation around research priorities and processes.
- The role of funding in shaping the research agenda and methods used, and the impact on relationships and existing efforts to address the issues being researched.
- The importance of developing 'power within' that is the confidence and capacity building process
 of participatory research for those involved, as an inherent part of and outcome of any participatory
 process.
- The role of power relations in general marginalisation processes that underpin the poverty, precarity and vulnerability, which systematically prevent the possibility of participation or compel others to participate.

Knowledge generation, scientific process and the role of experiential knowledge

One distinctive component of PAR is its emphasis on reflection on the experience and action by people affected by issues as a central part of the knowledge generation process. A principle of 'no delegation' (Loewenson, 2014) sees people affected taking on all aspects of the research process themselves, and crucially being involved in the analysis of experience and data and learning from action (Ospina et al., 2021). This has often been complemented by a body of tools to support reflection and analysis of experience and an emphasis on multiple ways of knowing and sense making, drawing on visual methods and not relying exclusively on the written word (Pretty et al. 1995, Burns, 2007; Black et al., 2018; Lewin and Shaw, 2022). The importance of emotional responses and articulating previously unrecognised patterns of social life that may need challenging is also recognised (Aabye et al., 2022; Macedo 2022). There is a dual rationale for drawing on these broader ways of knowing: first, to work with the range of people's embodied experience as holding insights that may be beyond easy expression in language or conventions of what counts as knowledge or reasoned argument; and second, because such methods may be more accessible, supporting a wider range of people to reflect on the world around them compared with the more 'expert' skills and procedures of dominant research paradigms carried out exclusively by researchers.

Tim Ingold makes the case that artistic production in many majority world cultures aims to connect people with a complex experience, rather than summarise or stand in for it; artistic practice draws people into the detail of an experience, including sensory and embodied experience, rather than attempting to provide a more abstract, distant representation of it (Ingold, 2000) A similar insight informs the turn to artistic process for supporting more diverse forms of sense making (Watkins and Shulman, 2010; Lewin and Shore, 2022) in PAR, and may be useful for deepening an understanding of what it means to adequately capture the reality of experience.

The action learning cycle and the value of experience

PAR, at its core, draws on principles of learning - the 'action learning cycle' that many will recognise from organizational and educational settings (Argyris and Schon, 1992; Wenger-Trayner, 2020), as well as the scientific process itself. This cycle is essentially a dialogue between empirical reality and experience, attempting to understand and frame that reality with adequate theories that not only give a good account of that reality but also enable relevant action in the world. Recognising the complex realities of issues like health, poverty and discrimination, PAR processes begin with people's lived realities and support people to reflect and analyse their own experience to understand how it is shaped by a range of personal, interpersonal, social, cultural, political and environmental forces. For PAR this process of action and analysis is undertaken by people affected by an issue, not delegated to others, including researchers.

Collective dialogue and analysis can generate meanings and understandings that move beyond received wisdom and dominant ideology to articulate a range of issues that need to be addressed, some of which are amenable to local action (Watkins and Shulman, 2010; Snijder and Apgar, 2021). Realist informed cognitive science has highlighted the importance of embodied experience and the way this comes to structure both everyday understandings and meanings as well as more abstract concepts and ideas (Lakoff and Johnson, 1999). Such work highlights that there may be limits to any voluntaristic change in such understandings. Sustained group dialogue over time may be key to unpicking some of the dominant framings and understandings of issues and working with a range of diverse perspectives in a creative process of generating new meanings (Bohm, 1996), This generative process of creating new meanings is something that is characteristic of the way social movements can develop new language and understandings over time (Vincent and Stackpool-Moore, 2008) as we return to below. Additional conceptual resources come from work on the evolution of human thinking which highlights the crucial role of collaborative action and joint attention focused on practice as underpinning processes of meaning-making and social co-ordination (Tomasello, 2000; 2014).

Further, local action and subsequent reflection on responses to that action can provide a deeper understanding of the wider forces underpinning a particular challenge and holding it in place over time (Aragon and Brydon-Miller, 2022) (something that is also supported by recent developments in systems approaches – see below). This, in turn, can build motivation for collective action and efforts to influence a range of institutions, such that local action

can lead to wider social change. While PAR seeks to find solutions to intractable social problems by building on the insights of people, the process also strengthens people's capacity and confidence to analyse and act in a virtuous cycle.

PAR thus brings the ethics of who does research for what purposes to centre stage. It is no accident that PAR sees research as having a dual purpose of supporting knowledge production and action – recognising the two are intimately related in human practice. It is driven by the overriding concern to serve the cause of social justice and the broadest human flourishing, and to strengthen the confidence to produce self-determined change.

Challenging a narrow view of scientific process and what counts as valid knowledge

An enduring challenge for PAR is the perception that it may lack rigour or be unscientific – as part of long-standing debates around what counts as valid knowledge. PAR has tended to be associated with qualitative research in debates within the academy over the value of different scientific research paradigms, and the hierarchy of method that sees quantitative methods as superior to qualitative methods (Goertz and Mahoney, 2012). PAR represents a different paradigm however, given its insistence on bringing action and analysis closer together and reducing the dominance of researchers over the process of inquiry (Reason and Bradbury, 2008).

The politics of 'science'

Developments and debates around research methods can also be set in wider debates situating scientific practice in a wider historical, political and economic context. Feminist and post-colonial critiques of the scientific emphasis on 'objectivity' have argued that rather than a neutral objectivity, mainstream science may enshrine a particular set of powerful social interests (haraway, 1991; Spivak, 1990). Mainstream science has tended to draw on and reinforce a historically specific set of elite, 'western' values – a notion that has recently resurfaced in debates on the coloniality of (Wood, 2020), and decolonization of, knowledge (Cabral, 1973; Tuhiwai- Smith, 2013; Khan et al., 2021; Abimbola, 2024). Critiques of the influence of corporate power and finance on academic disciplines, research agendas and knowledge production, point to the 'enclosure' of what could otherwise be public knowledge through the deployment of intellectual property laws and the selective use of findings for profitable technological developments (Rose and Rose, 2012; Blume, 2017; Hickel, 2021), situated in what Naomi Klein has called a broader logic of 'extractivism" (Klein, 2015).

These critiques are echoed in work at the confluence of design, decolonization, and social movements with the notion of 'ontological design' (Escobar, 2017), which focuses on linking local practices, values and ways of living and being in the world with wider social, economic political arrangements and relations with the natural world. Such work questions the overall 'civilisational model' that has been developed through the recent historic combination of capitalist economics, patriarchy, and colonialism, and argue for a conscious participatory design of alternatives that build on indigenous traditions and culture that combine autonomy and communality. This critique also highlights an 'ethic of care' common to feminist and indigenous values, and a strong emphasis on the web of relationships with life and land (Cram and Adcock, 2021), that differs from the narrow instrumental rationality that underpins dominant models of social development. It also highlights how some environmental movements and initiatives aim to develop social relations and practices that may prefigure alternative ways of living that are more consistent with a sustainable planetary future. This can be seen in the 'transition towns' movement as well as in decision-making processes and logistics/organising of direction action movements for environmental justice. Also from the field of design comes the notion of 'designing regenerative cultures' (Wahl 2016), a core principle of which is to encourage relationships that sustain and perpetuate well-being and flourishing across a wide range of areas of social life and relations with nature. Across such approaches, there is a concern to link the personal and political, the local and wider social setting, drawing on consistent principles that may have a different logic to the instrumental and hierarchical one embedded in neo-liberal culture and practice. Such work draws on indigenous values and cosmologies (Klein 2015). It also draws on Illich's critiques of institutions and the industrial application of technology, which he argues could be developed in a more decentralised and distributed way and used in support of more diverse ways of living – what he calls 'conviviality' (Illich, 2001).

The politics of knowing and epistemic justice

Another related strand of debate centres on issues of 'epistemic injustice' – highlighting that the experience and perspectives of some types of people have been systematically undervalued – both their knowledge and their legitimacy as someone speaking (Foucault, 1980; Fricker, 2009). In a parallel analysis, disability and mental health movements have highlighted how their experience and knowledge has been systematically ignored, arguing for the importance of 'lived experience' to inform research agendas and action (Beresford, 2003; 2019a). Rather than see lived experience as a source of bias to be discounted, as it is by much traditional research, it should be valued for the distinctive contribution to interpreting and understanding social phenomena. This need not undermine the rigour of research processes, since there is a recognition that lived experience is socially and historically shaped (Beresford, 2003). Centring lived experience also challenges the tendency for research to distance people from analysis of their own experience, whether through dominant ideological framings of issues or assumptions about what counts as valid knowledge.

Evaluative knowledge and human flourishing

While making clear that science has developed within certain prevailing political and economic arrangements, many of the above critiques seek to retain the idea of rigorous enquiry and science, while challenging its reliance on a narrow instrumental rationality. A case is made for drawing on wider ways of knowing and types of knowledge, highlighting how science has become identified with a particular hierarchy of methods and understanding of rationality (Sayer, 2011). Critical Realists in particular, have sought to draw on productive aspects of feminist and post structuralist thought, including the recognition that ways of knowing and scientific enquiry process are always socially constructed, while retaining an interest in developing broadly generalisable insights and understandings about social life and some of the consistent causal processes that shape it (Sayer, 2011, Elder-Vass, 2012).

For some, this has also meant recognising the inherently evaluative nature of much knowledge, and the problems with attempting to claim an objectivity that takes no position on how science and knowledge production contributes to or undermines human flourishing and well-being. Capability theorists, such as Amartya Sen and Martha Nussbaum (Sen, 2001; Nussbaum, 1995) draw attention to some broadly universal human characteristics that they argue transcend culture and setting, which may provide a more useful orienting frameworks for social research than traditional notions of objectivity as 'neutrality'.

In an extensive critique of social scientific method that resonates with much of the work on epistemic injustice, Andrew Sayer emphasizes the value of everyday knowledge and experience – including the practical reason that is often tacit and embodied in people's dispositions, and contrasts this to the more abstract instrumental knowledge of social scientists. Such everyday knowledge has a relationship of concern to and involvement in the world. Sayer argues that it is 'objective' in the sense that it 'pays attention to the object' and the details of and context in which any object of concern is embedded, resonating with Ingold's account of perception above. People's everyday responses, including emotional ones, are 'about something' and their evaluative component is also guided by values and previous experience as to what will support the wellbeing of a person and others. In this way they are not 'subjective' in the sense of being arbitrary or unrelated to matters at hand, but are about the world, and appreciation of and action within it from a particular position. In addition, emotional responses and dispositions are not 'unreasonable', but provide a commentary on ongoing relations with the world and the wellbeing of ourselves and others – something contemporary neuroscientific and theoretical work on the emotions supports (Damasio, 2012; Nussbaum, 2001).

Such an argument does not dismiss the value of scientific inquiry but argues that it can embrace a broader range of methods and needs to question its assumptions around validity and an overemphasis on a narrow instrumental rationality. Experiential knowledge can be an important source of knowledge about how human capabilities are enabled or stifled, and as such is a valuable and important component of scientific inquiry.

Participation and the complexity of lived experience

Further support for the value of drawing on lived experience comes from social scientific applications of complexity and systems theories. Most social challenges, from health to climate change, are increasingly recognised to be complex 'wicked' problems, with emergent, often unforeseen properties stemming from multiple interacting factors and feedback loops (Byrne and Callaghan, 2014; Skivington, 2021). Understanding the combination of factors that impinge on the health of particular people and groups demands methods that can access both the distinctive mix of influences at various levels in any given case, and a range of cases where these influences may manifest quite differently. Importantly, such complexity involves a combination of practical characteristics of places, economies and environment, and the ideas and meanings through which people act and respond. The latter are just as 'real', with tangible consequences, and are important in any research process that seeks to understand and address (Maxwell, 2012). As such, any social phenomenon needs to be understood as a 'laminated system' made up of influences at a range of levels from individual psychology to structural factors, and as such demands an interdisciplinary approach (Bhaskar and Danermark, 2018). The notion of 'wellbeing' itself draws attention to the wide range of factors involved in human flourishing and has in part been used to avoid the assumptions that come with the narrower notion of health (WHO, 1978).

PAR approaches are particularly suited to engaging with this complexity and finding actionable solutions that build on people's ability to reflect on and analyse their own realities and weave them into a rigorous process of inquiry (Burns, 2007; Byrne and Callaghan, 2014). Complexity theory also provides important insights into how particular aspects of social disadvantage can interact and compound each other. This is evident in the analysis of marginalization and poverty in international development (Burns et al., 2013), complementing theories of intersectionality that aim to understand difference and diversity (Hooks, 2000; Collins, 2000).

While an emphasis on 'lived experience' and the recognition of experiences is a vital starting point in PAR, reflection and collective analysis is also important to understand how experiences are socially shaped by prevailing circumstances (Snijder and Apgar, 2021). Recent scholarship on the politics of difference highlights a tension in contemporary identity politics between emphasising singular, incommensurable experiences and analysing these as socially produced and ultimately amenable to change in ongoing struggles to challenge discrimination and inequality (Malik, 2023). We further consider the relationship between immediate experience and the wider social forces that produce it in the next section on linking local action with wider social change.

Section summary

Drawing on the conceptual resources outlined above may help to better understand some of the contributions and challenges of participatory health research related to knowledge production including:

- The distinctive contribution of a rigorous participatory approach to scientific inquiry rooted in lived
 experience, using collective validation and critical analysis to understand how experience is socially
 produced, and building capacities and confidence to transform in the analysis of action and change.
- Working with diversity and diverse experiences to better address the complex character of health, and to generate 'shared' meanings and action.
- Challenging prevailing assumptions around how certain types of 'knowledge' are defined as valued, and the hierarchy of value attached to different research paradigms which may disadvantage participatory research
- The importance of interdisciplinary methods to understand the multiple influences creating patterns of health and wellbeing outcomes.
- Drawing on sense making methods that work effectively with tacit knowledge, embodied experience, and emotions, to develop insights and knowledge.
- Recognition of the importance of the values and purpose of research, including in support of social justice
 and broad human flourishing, rather than insistence on narrow notions of objectivity and instrumental
 rationality.

Linking local understandings and action to broader action and social and policy change

In many ways PAR aims to nurture a consistent set of processes of collaborative inquiry and action across scales, to support equitable knowledge generation and social practice. Despite the ability of PAR to generate engagement and local innovation however, it is less often the case that broader action and social change is realised. While broader social change to address issues of social justice was an integral aim of the social movements that initially sought to promote participatory methods (Freire, 1977), the more circumscribed participation that forms part of development and research projects has often had more pragmatic, instrumental and sometimes extractive goals, fuelling recurring debates about the risk of co-optation noted above (Fals Borda and Rahman, 1991).

In the international development setting, participatory projects have sometimes generated motivation and ideas for change, only for local power structures and the wider social context to thwart potential wider action (Campbell, 2010; Cooke and Kothari, 2001). However, there are also examples of project funded PAR programmes that have been able to change entrenched social challenges, such as child labour or ethnic conflict (Snijder and Apgar, 2021; IDS, 2016), rapidly share innovations through local learning networks (Burns, 2020a), and explicitly work with wider networks for peacebuilding (IDS, 2019).

Scholars/practitioners have argued for the need for a longer-term approach than is typically supported in research or project funding cycles to sustain a participatory process over a period of 10 years or more, allowing insights and actions that emerge from the process to develop and address the systemic nature of many social challenges. Shorter-term projects may miss the opportunity to effectively link affected communities with a growth of organisational capacity to use the knowledge generated. It may also be difficult to capture these actions with traditional monitoring and evaluation frameworks. A growing body of participatory monitoring and evaluation draws attention to the quality of the inquiry process itself, as well as the need for addressing complexity and uneven trajectories of change over longer time frames (Byrne and Vincent, 2011; Bamberger, 2016; Stern, 2018).

Building on local knowledge and action

A case has been made that PAR is most appropriate for developing local knowledge and local action, with solutions rooted in nuanced understanding of the range of local factors that make a difference. It is in this context that the action learning cycle can most obviously be brought to bear, involving research, experience, analysis and action within a particular place or system (ICHPR, 2010). A question then arises: how is local insight and action connected to wider social change, particularly in addressing some of the structural drivers that may influence a locality but be generated and sustained beyond it. Given the ambitions of PAR to strive for broad real-world impact, proponents of PAR suggest that a broader understanding of generalisability may be needed. Methodologically, this may mean drawing on rigorous case studies and transferring partial explanations to new contexts – something for which realist approaches are particularly well suited. Practically, this may demand a learning infrastructure that links different initiatives and settings in an ongoing dialogue and exchange to share insights and adapt them locally (Burns, 2020a) in what has been called an 'association' model of scale (Chetley and Vincent, 2003).

Argentinian and Brazilian scholars have developed a 'genealogical approach', drawing on Foucauldian insights around the mutual reinforcement of local meanings and practices and a bottom-up analysis of power, to suggest a need to build on local action and understanding for wider social justice initiatives (Faria de Aguiar and Lopes da Rocha 2007, cited in Loewenson, 2014). In other examples, PAR has fed into the action of trade unions and social movement organisations (Loewenson, 2014). In the related field of Asset Based Community Development, there is a similar emphasis on developing local insight and action first – both to build the most realistic picture of challenges that need addressing locally, but also to build the confidence and motivation to engage with wider systemic influences and other more powerful actors that may be impinging on the locality (Vincent, 2019; Russell, 2020).

The notion of an equity context (Harris et al., 2015) is useful for understanding whether the principles of valuing local experience and collaborative learning, sustained in a participatory approach, are echoed or undermined by the prevailing ways of working and wider social dynamics of organisations and agencies who are either funding, involved in, or expected to engage with participatory inquiry. A previous realist review of Community Based Participatory research highlights the importance of 'partnership synergy' and the quality of collaboration between different groups involved in research for research outcomes and the sustainability of relationships over time (Jagosh et al., 2012). Building on this work, a subsequent model makes visible important influences on successful CBPR including: social, historical and institutional context; the central role of partnership dynamics, with important 'process' outcomes including community empowerment, institutional capacity and policy changes (Viswanathan et al., 2004; Ortiz et al., 2019). The challenges of linking and aligning diverse local actions and insights into broader coalitions for change is an area that would benefit from greater attention.

Vertical and horizontal contexts in health

In the case of health and health research, quite different contexts are provided by two broad approaches to health that can be characterized as 'horizontal' and 'vertical'. In the 1970s, there was a recognition of the important role of the social determinants of health and well-being, and an attempt to develop a social model of health that was less focused on disease and medical interventions (Packard, 2000; Loewenson et al., 2021). Comprehensive Primary Health Care (PHC) saw people's involvement in deciding on priorities for action and capacity to act on a range of factors impinging on their everyday lives as an inherent component of health and wellbeing. These insights were reiterated with the extensive work done by the Commission for Social Determinants on Health decades later (CSDH, 2008; Marmot, 2010). However, in the intervening period, a more 'vertical' approach was taken, emphasising programmes that specifically target key diseases such as Malaria, TB and HIV, or selective approaches to PHC. This alternative approach mobilized resources and research around medical treatments and infrastructure for specific health priorities, instead of focusing on systems-wide strengthening.

A vertical health paradigm that focuses on diseases, medicines and technology arguably remains dominant today, even while it is unevenly realised across diverse health systems, with the privatisation of health services and marketisation of health a dominant trend. At the same time, notions of the social determinants of health, and notions of social medicine and intercultural health more prevalent in LMICs, continue to assert the importance of a more systemic and interdisciplinary approach to wellbeing (Loewenson, 2021). Such approaches highlight the deficiencies of an emphasis on traditional economic growth and curative medicine and contribute to the emerging emphasis on 'planetary health' (Whitmee et al., 2015). The Covid-19 pandemic response has also highlighted how existing health inequalities can shape the pattern of health outcomes at the population level, and the important role of community driven responses for any effective and more equitable response (Loewenson et al., 2021b). The distinct logic and relationships inherent in vertical and horizontal paradigms can present varied opportunities and constraints for a participatory approach to health and wellbeing that values the experience and insights of ordinary people and the health promoting role of validating their knowledge and developing their capacity and agency.

In the previous section we highlighted how some environmental movements sought, in their actions and organising approaches, to prefigure the kinds of relationships and practices that are consistent with the future they are aiming to build. In this way, they show a recognition of how local action and practice needs to be consistent with the broader social relationships and type of society that is seen as desirable. This echoes the feminist adage that 'the personal is political' and the perennial concern of critical theory to understand the relationship between everyday practice and maintenance or challenge to the wider social regularities of which it is part. In the case of movements around mental health, a range of therapeutic communities from the late 1960s similarly sought to realise an alternative set of relationships and approaches that went against prevailing attitudes to mental health as well as psychiatric orthodoxy, with uneven results (Crossley, 2006). Contemporary survivor and user-led movements highlight how apparent gains in 'patient involvement' over recent decades, were simultaneously undermined by the logic of austerity and punitive sanctions on disability benefits (Shakespeare, 2014; Beresford, 2019a).

In looking at participatory health research, the contexts in which it is attempted may thus have important implications for how far it is possible to be consistent with the paradigm as a whole.

Understanding meanings, culture and social change

In understanding the limits and potential of PAR to contribute to wider social change, important insights may be drawn from broader literature on the dynamics of social change, and situating participatory practices and spaces within the wider flows of history and culture and more organic social change. Literature on social movements highlights how the 'collective effervescence' of group interaction, dialogue, and shared action can build a sense of belonging and develop new understandings and 'framings' of taken for granted social arrangements (Crossley, 2002; 2006). The generation of new understandings and mobilising symbols that galvanize people to act is an important creative dimension of social movement dynamics (Vincent and Stackpool-Moore, 2011).

Recent theory of 'community', understood as a process rather than a thing, also provides important insights into how 'beings and meanings in common' are generated in different spaces of social interaction, while being simultaneously influenced by wider networks of resources and ideas (Studdert and Walkerdine ,2016). This is complemented by Social theory attempting to understand the broader dynamics of social change or lack of it (Bourdieu, 1977; Crossley, 1994; and 2011; Archer, 2000; Elder-Vass, 2012) and the dynamic interplay between social practices, ideas and culture, networks of actors, and the influence of institutions and differential interests. Work under the rubric of 'psychologies of liberation' highlighted above, also emphasises the connections between prevailing social arrangements, the quality of inter-personal and group dynamics and individual psychology.

A strand of early critical theory has also sought to understand how communication, media, and cultural production play an important role in how some ideas and practices become institutionalized as an authorized 'tradition' or 'culture' (Williams, 1961; Hall, 1977). As noted in the previous section, Escobar (2017) has combined anthropologies of Latin American social movements and notions from design to reframe this as a question of actively designing ways of living and being, animated by distinctive principles of communality, care, and autonomy. From within the disability movement in the UK, Beresford frames this challenge as one that includes the construction of ideology, and notes that participation is rarely extended to shaping the overall ideology that organises and animates a society, including in some social movements which claim to advocate a democratic process (Beresford, 2021).

Influencing policy and practice

Work exploring the factors that support the uptake of research in policy and practice in health and development contexts has pointed to the importance of early and proactive engagement with a range of actors and networks to build opportunities for engaging with evidence (Court and Young, 2003; Lux et al., 2019). In this context PAR is distinctive for the way that the research process itself tends to build relationships and networks for action, generating and supporting some of the links that promote uptake of research in policy and practice (Loewenson et al., 2010). A number of case examples where PAR has influenced policy change – such as in the case of HIV social movements – highlight the importance of better understanding conducive contexts and levers for change (Loewenson et al., 2021).

In separate debates around the anthropology of policy, there has also been a concern to understand how particular ideas and policy framings of issues emerge or are mobilised to organise disparate actors and initiatives at wider scales (Shore et al., 2011; Gerrits, 2013). Such work draws on Foucauldian notions of discourse and the 'dispositif' and a bottom-up analysis of power. Similarly, the Deleuzian notion of 'assemblages' is also increasingly drawn on to understand the emergence of relatively enduring social institutions and patterns from heterogeneous practices, ideas, and material factors. This approach recognises the role of both powerful interests and the messy historical negotiations of social change (DeLanda, 2016).

Section summary

In many ways, PAR seeks to intentionally democratise the character of social relationships and the process of knowledge production and action in a way that is consistent across scales The theoretical resources mentioned above may be helpful for understanding how the generative process of action-learning, supported by PAR, may or may not lead to influence on policy and practice in health and wider social change. It may also help analyse the following issues:

- · The process of generating local meanings and action from diverse perspectives and experiences
- How understandings and actions can be linked across places and address structural factors that may be sustained beyond a locality.
- The role of coalitions and networks in linking local action with wider organisations and systemic influences.
- How local meanings and practices relate to prevailing culture, institutions, policies and ideology and either challenge them or are co-opted by them.

Explaining Participatory Action Research

Drawing on the key issues explored above and the conceptual resources that help to understand the way in which they may play out in different contexts, we have developed a visualization that provides an initial explanatory account of PAR. Figure 1 illustrates how key relational mechanisms and influential contexts may lead to a range of outcomes - an initial 'programme theory' in realist terminology. This set of interlinked explanations sensitizes us to some of the key factors influencing PAR and will help us review the existing literature and further refine the programme theory in the light of available evidence as our REAL2 review progresses.

Figure 1: Initial programme theory elements

WIDERIMPACTS on what promotes wellbeing validated as shared culture practices articulated and human flourishing and Body of meanings and that promotes health through social justice regenerative culture Practice and policy Networks and coalitions of health and wellbeing able to work together Greater understanding and how to support it for equitable health and wellbeing OUTCOMES Changes in consciousness Greater confidence and capacity of those most most affected for self-Power shifts to people Wider networks and coalitions for action policy and practice Innovative actions New knowledge and changes in defined change and framing of and solutions social issues affected of research and related process of deliberation shifts power to define the research priorities affected starting point for collective analysis to better understand and action of most Co-governance and process social issues Experience **MECHANISMS** experience and cycles of eveals new priorities & Collective analysis of action and reflection reframes issues and opportunities for action Facilitation/creation of safe spaces for eadiness to share relationships and together builds Dedicated time familiarity and sharing and experiences experiences validating ideas and **IMMEDIATE** CONTEXTS Clarity in roles complexity of and beliefs of Diversity and and process participants Motivation actors or networks with capacity, to take on facilitatory role motivation and resources community organisations Researchers/actors ready participatory process and action and commitment support and funding for receptiveness to action to host inquiry process Culture of independent determinants of health CONTEXTS in a different scientific 'Levers' for support of **Existing organisations** Equitable trustworthy Recognition of social to collective action Political and policy partnerships with and results research process

Conclusion

In this paper we have outlined some important issues for further development of PAR as well as some conceptual resources that may help to deepen analysis around them. It is clear that many of the issues are interconnected, with relationships of power, conceptions of rigorous knowledge generation and links between local and wider action all mutually influencing each other. This initial mapping of issues and related theoretical resources will help us to construct the more systematic searches for a realist review of participatory research in health, and also help sensitise us to some of the connections during the analysis of the literature reviewed. In keeping with realist analysis, we will draw on some of the conceptual resources highlighted above, to construct plausible causal accounts of some of the key dynamics in play, in order to more systematically test them against literature in the field. Insights from practitioners/scholars and grey literature will also be important for the review in a field characterised by an emphasis on social action in the support of social justice, rather than solely on accounts of that process.

What is clear from our initial scoping, is that participatory action research implicates a wide range of social, group, psychological, epistemic, institutional and economic processes, all of which may need to be aligned for the process to realise its full potential and to avoid the process being co-opted and more limited. Specifically, we aim to understand the factors that contribute to PAR being sustained as an iterative dialogue between action and knowledge generation in the pursuit of social justice and human and planetary wellbeing and flourishing.

Acknowledgements

The arguments and contents of this working paper are the responsibility of the authors but we would like to thank a range of people for their insights and input during our scoping phase including: Participants of the International Collaboration for Participatory Health Research 2023 conference in Dublin session on evaluation; Participants at the Global Health Bioethics Network Summer School on 2023; participants at the International Global Bioethics and Health Conference REAL2 session, Oxford 2023; Pradeep Naryan, Danny Burns, Marina Apgar, Mieke Snijder, Nina Wallerstein, Jane Springett, Jon Salsberg, Mike Powell, Dorcas Kamuya, Bella Starling, Lyndsey Reynolds, Shuranjeet Takhar, Kate Martin, Maisie Jenkins, Joe Zaremba, Georgia Bladon, Greer Roberts, Haidee Bell, Caesar Atuire, Lucy Gilson, Melina Galdos.

References

Aabye L, Gioacchino G, Wegner F: Holding space for emotions in Participatory Action Research: reflections from the experiences of a youth organisation exploring PAR through creative practices. In: The SAGE handbook of participatory research and inquiry. London: SAGE Publications Ltd, 2022; 2.: 263–275.

Abimbola S, van de Kamp J, Lariat J, et al.: Unfair knowledge practices in global health: a realist synthesis. Health Policy Plan. 2024; 39(6): 636–650.

Adelman C: Kurt Lewin and the origins of action research. Educ Action Res. 1993; 1(1): 7-24.

Aragón A, Brydon-Miller M: Section introduction: show me the action! understanding action as a way of knowing in participatory research. In: The SAGE Handbook of Participatory Research and Inquiry. London: SAGE Publications Ltd, 2022; 2.: 563–578.

Archer M: Realist social theory: the morphogenetic approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1995.

Archer M: Being human: the problem of agency. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2000.

Arnstein SR: A ladder of citizen participation. J Am Inst Plann. 1969; 35(4): 216–224.

Argyris C, Schon DA: Theory in practice -increasing professional effectiveness. California: Jossey-Bass Inc, 1992.

Bamberger M, Vaessen J, Raimondo E: Complexity in development evaluation. In: Dealing with complexity in development evaluation: a practical approach. 2016; 1–25.

Batliwala S: Grassroots movements as transnational actors: implications for global civil society. Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations. 2002; 13(4): 393–409.

Beresford P: It's our lives: a short theory of knowledge, distance and experience. London: Citizen Press, 2003.

Beresford P: Public participation in health and social care: exploring the co-production of knowledge. Front Sociol. 2019; 3: 41.

Beresford P: Participatory ideology: from exclusion to involvement. London: Policy Press, 2021.

Bhaskar R, Danermark B, Price L: Interdisciplinarity and wellbeing: a critical realist general theory of interdisciplinarity. Abingdon: Routledge, 2018.

Black GF, Davies A, Iskander D, et al.: Reflections on the ethics of participatory visual methods to engage communities in global health research. Glob Bioeth. 2017; 29(1): 22–38.

Blume S: Immunization: how vaccines became controversial. London: Reaktion Books, 2017.

Bohm D: On Dialogue. London: Routledge, 1996.

Bourdieu P: Outline of a theory of practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University press, 1977.

Burns D: Systemic action research: a strategy for whole system change. Bristol: Policy Press, 2007.

Burns B, Howard J, Lopez-Franco E, et al.: Work with us: how people and organisations can catalyse sustainable change. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, 2013.

Burns D, Worsley S: Navigating complexity in international development: facilitating sustainable change at scale. Rugby UK: Practical Action Publishing, 2015.

Burns D, Joseph S, Oosterhoff P: Systemic action research with spinning mill workers in Tamil Nadu (2017–18). Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, 2020a.

Burns D, Howard J, Ospina SM: Challenges in the practice of participatory research and inquiry. In: Sage Handbook of Participatory Research and Enquiry. London: Sage Publications Ltd, 2022

Burns D, Howard J, Ospina SM.: Sage handbook of participatory research and enquiry, London: Sage Publications Ltd; 2022.

Byrne D, Callaghan G: Complexity theory and the social science - the state of the art. Abingdon: Routledge, 2014.

Byrne A, Vincent R: Evaluating social change communication for HIV/AIDS: new directions. Geneva: UNAIDS, 2011.

Cabral A: Return to the source: selected speeches of Amilcar Cabral. New York: Monthly Review Press, 1973.

Campbell C: Technologies of 'Participation' and 'Capacity building' in HIV/AIDS management in Africa: four case studies. In: HIV treatment and prevention technologies in international perspective. 2020; 18–32.

Chetley A, Vincent R: Learning to share learning: an exploration of methods to improve and share learning. London: Exchange, 2003; Accessed 23 Feb 2024.

Collins PH: Black feminist thought: knowledge, consciousness and the politics of empowerment. Abingdon: Routledge, 2000.

Commission on Social Determinants of Health: Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2008.

Cooke B, Kothari U: Participation: the new tyranny? London: Zed, 2001.

Cornwall A: Unpacking 'participation': models, meanings and practices. Comun Dev J. 2008; 43(3): 269-283.

Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS): Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences. International Ethical Guidelines for Health-related Research Involving Humans. 4th ed. Geneva, 2016.

Court J, Young J: Bridging research and policy: insights from 50 Case Studies. ODI Working Paper 213. ODI: UK, 2003.

Cram F, Adcock A: Indigenous ways of knowing and participatory research. In: The SAGE handbook of participatory research and inquiry. London: SAGE Publications Ltd, 2021; 2.: 108–124.

Crossley N: Politics of subjectivity: between foucault and Merleau-Ponty. Aldershot: Avebury publishing, 1994

Crossley N: Making sense of social movements. Buckingham: Open University Press, 2002.

Crossley N: Contesting psychiatry: social movements in mental health. Oxford: Routledge, 2006.

Crossley N: Towards relational sociology. London: Routledge, 2011.

Damasio A: Self comes to mind: constructing the conscious brain. New York: Vintage, 2010.

de Aguiar F, da Rocha L: cited in Loewenson et al., 2014. 2007.

DeLanda: Assemblage theory. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 2016.

Elder-Vass D: The causal power of social structure. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010.

Elder-Vass D: The reality of social construction. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2012.

Emerson K, Nabatchi T, Balogh S.: an integrative framework for collaborative governance, Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory. 2012; 22 (1): 1–29.

Escobar A: Designs for the pluriverse: radical interdependence, autonomy, and the making of worlds. London: Duke University Press, 2017.

Fals-Borda O, Rahman MA, Editors: Action and knowledge: breaking the monopoly with participatory action research. Rugby: Practical Action Publishing, 1991.

Foucault M: Power/Knowledge: selected interviews and other writings 1972-1977. New York: Pantheon Books, 1980.

Foucault M: The history of sexuality vol 1: an introduction. London: Penguin, 1990.

Fricker M: Epistemic injustice: power and the ethics of knowing. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2007.

Freire P: The Pedagogy of the oppressed. London: London: Penguin, 1970.

Gaventa J, Cornwall A: Challenging the boundaries of the possible: participation, knowledge and power. IDS Bulletin. 2006; 37(6): 122–128.

Gerrits L: Punching clouds: an introduction to the complexity of public decision making. Massachusetts: ISCE Publishing, 2013.

Goertz G, Mahoney J: A tale of two cultures: qualitative and quantitative research in the social sciences. Princeton NJ: Princeton University Press, 2012.

Guy B, and Brittany A.: Feminism and participatory research: exploring intersectionality, relationships, and voice in participatory research from a feminist perspective. In: The SAGE Handbook of Participatory Research and Inquiry. London: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2021: p 93-107. doi:10.4135/9781529769432

Hall S, Critcher C, Jefferson T, et al.: Policing the crisis. (2nd ed.). London: Macmillan Education, 2013.

haraway D: Simians, cyborgs and the reinvention of nature. London: Free Association Books, 1991.

Harris J, Springett J, Croot L, et al.: Can community-based peer support promote health literacy and reduce inequalities? A realist review. Public Health Res. 2015; 3(3): 1–192.

Haugaard M: Rethinking the four dimensions of power: domination and empowerment. J Political Power. 2012; 5(1): 33–54.

Hickey S, Mohan S, editors: Participation: from tyranny to transformation? Exploring new approaches to participation in development. London: Zed Books, 2004.

Hickel J: Less is more: how degrowth will save the world. London: Penguin, 2021.

Hooks B: Feminist theory: from margin to center. London: Pluto Press, 2000.

Ingold T: The perception of the environment: essays on livelihood, dwelling and skill: essays in livelihood, dwelling and skill. Abingdon: Routledge, 2000.

Illich I: Tools for conviviality. New York: Harper and Row, 2001.

Institute of development studies: Peacebuilding in Myanmar. Institute of development studies, 2019.: https://www.ids.ac.uk/projects/community-based-peace-processes-in-myanmar/

International Collaboration for Participatory Health Research ICPHR: What is participatory health research? Position paper No .1. ICPHR. 2013.

Jagosh J, Macaulay AC, Pluye P, et al.: Uncovering the benefits of participatory research: implications of a realist review for health research and practice. Milbank Q. 2012; 90(2): 311–346.

Khan M, Abimbola S, Aloudat T, et al.: Decolonising global health in 2021: a roadmap to move from rhetoric to reform. BMJ Glob Health. 2021; 6(3): e005604.

Klein N: This changes everything: capitalism versus the climate. London: Penguin, 2015.

Lakoff G, Johnson M: Philosophy in the flesh: the embodied mind and its challenge to western thought. New York: Basic Books, 1999.

Lewin T, Shaw J: Section introduction: collective becoming: visual and performative methodologies for participatory research. In: The SAGE handbook of participatory research and inquiry. SAGE Publications Ltd, 2022; 2.: 711–722.

Loewenson R: Connecting the streams: using health systems research knowledge in low- and middle-income countries. Background paper commissioned by the WHO for the Global Symposium in Health Systems Research. Geneva: WHO, 2010.

Loewenson R, Laurell AC, Hogstedt C, et al.: Participatory action research in health systems: a methods reader. IDRC Canada, Harare. Equinet, 2014.

Loewenson R, Villar E, Baru R, et al.: Engaging globally with how to achieve healthy societies: insights from India, Latin America and East and Southern Africa. BMJ Global Health. 2021; 6: e005257.

Loewenson R, Colvin CJ, Szabzon F, et al.: Beyond command and control: a rapid review of meaningful community-engaged responses to COVID-19. Glob Public Health. 2021b; 16(8–9): 1439–1453.

Lukes S: Power: a radical view. 2nd ed. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2005.

Lux A, Schäfer M, Bergmann M, et al.: Societal effects of transdisciplinary sustainability research—how can they be strengthened during the research process? Environ Sci Policy. 2019; 101: 183–191.

Macedo JC: Feeling-body-thinking approach and methodologies: towards transformations in intercultural justice. In: The SAGE handbook of participatory research and inquiry. London: SAGE Publications Ltd, 2021; 2.: 393–411.

Malik K: Not so black and white: a history of race from white supremacy to identity politics. London: C Hurst & Co Publishers, 2023.

Marmot M: Fair society, healthy lives: the marmot review: strategic review of health inequalities in England post-2010. 2010.

Maxwell AJ: A realist approach for qualitative research. SAGE Publication Ltd, 2012.

Nussbaum MC, Glover J: Women, culture, and development: a study of human capabilities. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995.

Nussbaum MC: Upheavals of thought: the intelligence of the emotions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001

Oetzel JG, Villegas M, Zenone H, et al.: Enhancing stewardship of community-engaged research through governance. Am J Public Health. 2015; 105(6): 1161–7.

Ortiz K, Nash J, Shea L, et al.: Partnerships, processes, and outcomes: a health equity-focused scoping metareview of community-engaged scholarship. Annu Rev Public Health. 2020; 41: 177–199.

Ospina S, Burns D, Howard J: Introduction to the handbook: navigating the complex and dynamic landscape of participatory research and inquiry. In: The SAGE handbook of participatory research and inquiry. London: SAGE Publications Ltd, 2021; 2: 3–16.

Packard RM: A history of global health: interventions into the lives of others. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2000.

Pawson R: Evidence based policy: a realist perspective. London: Sage; 2006.

Pawson R: The science of evaluation: a realist manifesto. London: Sage, 2013.

Pratt B: Towards inclusive priority-setting for global health research projects: recommendations for sharing power with communities. Health Policy Plan. 2019; 34(5): 346–357.

Pretty NJ, Guijt I, Scoones I, et al.: Participatory learning and action: a trainer's guide. London: IIED, 1995.

Participatory Learning and Action, IIED Participatory Methodology Series (1988-2013), International Institute for Environment and Development, London, IIED: http://www.iied.org/participatory-learning-action

Reason P, Bradbury H, editors: The sage handbook of action research: participative inquiry and practice. 2nd Edition. London: Sage, 2013.

Rifkin SB: Lessons from community participation in health programmes: a review of the post Alma-Ata experience. Int Health. 2009; 1(1): 31–36.

Roberts T: Section introduction: digital affordances in participatory research methods. In: The SAGE Handbook of Participatory Research and Inquiry. London: SAGE Publications, 2022; 2.: 481–495.

Rose H, Rose S: Genes, cells and brains: the promethean promises of the new biology. London: Verso, 2012

Russell C: Rekindling democracy: a professional's guide to working in citizen space. Cascade books, 2020.

Salsberg J, Macridis S, Garcia Bengoechea E, et al.: Engagement Strategies that foster community self-determination in participatory research: insider ownership through outsider championship. Fam Pract. 2017; 34(3): 336–340.

Sayer A: Realism and social science. London: Sage, 1999.

Sayer A: Why things matter to people: social science, values and ethical life. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011.

Sayer A: Power, causality and normativity: a critical realist critique of foucault. J Political Power. 2012; 5(2): 179–194.

Sen A: Development as freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001.

Shakespeare T.: Disability rights and wrongs revisited. 2nd ed. London: Routledge; 2014.

Shore C, Wright S, Pero D: Policy worlds: anthropology and the analysis of contemporary power. Berghahn Books, 2011.

Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, et al.: A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ. 2021; 374: n2061.

Snijder M, Apgar M: How does participatory action research generate innovation? Findings from a rapid realist review. CLARISSA Emerging Evidence Report 6. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, 2021.

Spivak GC, Harasym S: The post-colonial critic: interviews, strategies, dialogues. 1st ed. Abingdon: Routledge, 1990.

Stern E, Stame N, Mayne J, et al.: Broadening the range of designs and methods for impact evaluations. DFID working paper 38. London: DFID, 2018.

Studdert D. Conceptualising Community: Beyond the State and the Individual. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan; 2005.

Studdert D, Walkerdine V: Rethinking community research. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2016.

Tomasello M: A natural history of human thinking. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 2014.

Tomasello M: The cultural origins of human cognition. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 2000.

Tuhiwai Smith L: Decolonizing methodologies: research and indigenous peoples. London: Zed, 1999.

Vincent R, Stackpool-Moore L: Moved to act: communication supporting HIV social movements to achieve inclusive social change. Development in Practice. 2009; 19(4/5): 630–642.

Vincent R, Miskelly C: Beyond consultation: a guide for health commissioners. How staff and service users can work together to improve health services. Panos London/Naz Project London, 2012.

Vincent R: Understanding the promise of asset-based approaches for wellbeing and inclusion: a commentary paper exploring the way 'asset-based approaches' are understood and applied in health and wellbeing interventions at the local level in the UK. Gloucester: Barnwood Trust, 2019.

Vincent R, Adhikari B, Duddy C, et al.: 'Working relationships' across difference - a realist review of Community Engagement with malaria research [version 1; peer review: 3 approved]. Wellcome Open Res. 2022; 7: 13.

Viswanathan M, Ammerman A, Eng E, et al.: Community-based participatory research: assessing the evidence: summary. AHRQ Evid. Rep. Summ 04-E022-1, AHRQ Evid. Rep. Summ., Agency Healthc. Res. Quality, Rockville, MD, 2004.

Wahl D: Designing regenerative cultures. Axminster: Triarchy Press, 2016

Wallerstein N, Minkler M, editors: Community-based participatory research for health: advancing social and health equity. 3rd ed. Jossey-Bass, 2018.

Walters KL, Johnson-Jennings M, Stroud S, et al.: Growing from our roots: strategies for developing culturally grounded health promotion interventions in American Indian, Alaska Native, and Native Hawaiian communities. Prev Sci. 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 54–64

Watkins M, Shulman H: Towards psychologies of liberation. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2010.

Wenger-Trayner E, Wenger-Trayner B: Learning to make a difference: value creation in social learning spaces. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2020.

Whitmee S, Haines A, Beyrer C, et al.: Safeguarding human health in the anthropocene epoch: report of the Rockefeller Foundation-Lancet commission on planetary health. Lancet. 2015; 386(10007): 1973–2028.

Williams R: The Long revolution. London: Chatto & Windus, 1961.

Wood DA: Epistemic decolonization: a critical investigation into the anticolonial politics of knowledge. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2020.

World Health Organization: Primary Health Care: report of the international conference on primary health care, Alma-Ata, USSR, 6-12 September 1978. Geneva: WHO, 1978.



REAL2 realist review of participatory research

In this working paper we have outlined some important issues for further development of PR as well as some conceptual resources that may help to deepen analysis around them. We aim to draw on the issues outlined in this review to find an initial focus for more systematic searching of the literature and analysis that will also make the review manageable. We recognise that many of the issues are interconnected, and this initial mapping of issues and related theoretical resources will help sensitise us to some of the connections during the analysis.

While the diversity of terminology and lack of conceptual consistency across existing literature is a challenge, as it was with our previous realist review exploring 'community engagement' (Vincent et al. 2021), taking a realist approach will balance appreciation of the declared aims for participatory processes in research with the social dynamics and patterns of outcomes which are documented. In keeping with realist analysis, we will also explore the influences of the different circumstances in which PR is carried out. Specifically, we aim to understand the factors that contribute to PR being sustained as an iterative dialogue between action and knowledge generation, as opposed to the process being co-opted into a more limited process.

Insights from practitioners/scholars and grey literature will also be important for the review in a field characterised by an emphasis on social action in the support of social justice, rather than solely on accounts of that process. Nevertheless, we hope that insights from a rich and diverse existing literature can be further sharpened by our realist logic of analysis, to iteratively refine programme theory — or explanatory accounts — of participatory research.



Corresponding author: Robin Vincent, robvconsult@gmail.com











